## NO. 47126-4-II IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

DALE E. and LETA L. ANDERSON; DALE E. ANDERSON and LETA L. ANDERSON, TRUSTEES OF THE DALE E. ANDERSON AND LETA L. ANDERSON FAMILY TRUST; and RIVER PROPERTY, LLC,

v.

### **ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR**

Assignment of Error No. 1: The trial court erred by entering its Memorandum of Opinion.

Assignment of Error No. 2: The trial court erred by entering its Conclusions of Law in the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law.

Assignment of Error No. 3: The Court erred in entering the Judgment.

### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

- 1. Did the First Amendment to Declaration of Covenants and Restrictions for Rivershore (the 2008 Amendment) require the approval of all homeowners within the subdivision?
- 2. Did the owners of Lot 8 in Rivershore validly assent to the 2008 Amendment?
- 3. Did the owners of Lot 9 in Rivershore validly assent to the 2008 Amendment?
- 4. Does the "Law of the Case" doctrine preclude consideration of the preceding three issues?
- 5. Are the defendants estopped from assenting to the 2008 Amendment?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE<sup>1 2</sup>

#### I. Operative Facts.

Rivershore Estates Phase I (the Subdivision) is located between Evergreen Highway and the Columbia River in Vancouver. When first platted in 1989, it contained thirteen (13) lots varying in size from .66 acres to 1.34 acres. (CP 23, FF1 and FF3; Ex. 1, Tabs 3-6) The Subdivision's developers recorded the Declaration of Covenants and Restrictions for Rivershore (CCRs) in 1989. The CCRs did not directly prohibit division of lots within Rivershore. (CP 23, FF1; Ex. 1, Tab 1) The Subdivision also included tidelands abutting the Columbia River. These are owned in common among the owners of lots within the Subdivision. (Ex. 1, Tab 1, Paragraphs 15-16, and Tab 2) Finally, the CCRs allow for "modification" of "restrictions" contained in the CCRs with the "affirmative vote of 80% of the then owners of lots within this subdivision." (Ex. 1, Tab 1, Introductory Paragraph)

///

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> This case was tried to the court. There is no serious dispute concerning the factual findings that the court made. Therefore, factual citations will be to the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. The reference will be to a page within the Clerk's Papers together with the legend "FF" to refer to the specific finding.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The parties submitted agreed exhibits to the Court in a three-ring binder containing numbered tabs. The trial clerk marked this three-ring binder as one exhibit. Counsel understands that the entire three-ring binder is being transmitted to the Court of Appeals. Exhibits as part of the Clerk's Papers. References to documents will be to "Ex. 1" followed by the appropriate numbered tab.

In 2002, James Brown decided to subdivide Lot 13 into two parcels. Dale Anderson learned of this and contacted Zachary Stoumbos, a Vancouver attorney, to attempt to stop the process. Other homeowners ultimately joined him. These were Kae Howard, the owner of Lot 1 in her capacity as Trustee of her trust; Brenda Andrist, then the owner of Lot 2; Roberta Davis, then one of the owners of Lot 9; Craig Stein, then the owner of Lot 5; and Vince Huffstutter, then one of the owners of Lot 11. They unsuccessfully attempted to convince the City of Vancouver not to approve Mr. Brown's subdivision. (CP 24-25, FF5-6)

Mr. Stoumbos wrote to Mr. Anderson on April 8, 2003, and forwarded the letter to Ms. Howard, Ms. Andrist, Ms. Davis, Mr. Stein, and Mr. Huffstutter on April 23, 2003. The letter pointed out that there was nothing in the CCRs precluding division of any lot. It also indicated that the CCRs could be amended to preclude any further division. (CP 25, FF8; Ex. 1, Tabs 36-37) After receipt of Mr. Stoumbos' letter, the group chose not to pursue litigation to stop the division of Lot 13. Thereafter, and prior to April of 2008, there was no discussion among the owners of lots in Rivershore, including the Andersons, about amending the CCRs to preclude further division. (CP 25, FF6, 8)

The subdivision of Lot 13 created two parcels. Mr. Brown's existing residence was on one. The other lot had no structures on it at the

time of division. River Property, LLC purchased the lot without any structures in 2005. Dale Anderson and Leta Anderson are the members of that entity. (CP 24, FF5)

Ms. Andrist lost Lot 2 through a nonjudicial foreclosure of a deed of trust. The Andersons learned of its availability through a realtor. They were interested in purchasing the lot provided it could be divided. Mr. Anderson obtained information from a development consultant to determine the feasibility of division under the ordinances of the City of Vancouver and concluded that the property could be divided. The Andersons then purchased Lot 2 for \$1.762 million. The deed to them was filed with the Clark County Auditor on April 30, 2008. (CP 25, FF7)

The Andersons would not have purchased Lot 2 had there been any prohibition against subdivision in place at the time they bought it. (CP 26, FF11) The Andersons did not, however, advise other owners in Rivershore of their intention to divide Lot 2 before they purchased it. (CP 25, FF7; Ex. 1, Tab 10; CP 26, FF15)

The Andersons then applied to the City of Vancouver in 2008 to divide the property. The other owners in the Subdivision learned of the application through customary city postings on the property. (CP 25, FF9)

On October 15, 2008, the First Amendment to Declaration of Covenants and Restrictions for Rivershore (the 2008 Amendment) was recorded with the Auditor. As is pertinent, it states:

Lots 1 through 13, consisting of the original 13 lots contained in Rivershore, shall not be further subdivided or short platted.

It made this restriction "effective immediately." (CP 25-26, FF10-11; Ex. 1, Tab 4) The document was signed and assented to by the owners of Lots 3, 5, 6, 7, 10, 11, and 12. Mr. Brown also signed the document. The Andersons, then owners of Lots 2 and 4, did not agree to the amendment. Neither did River Property, LLC. (Ex 1, Tab 4)

In 2008, Ms. Howard as the Trustee of her Trust was the owner of Lot 1. Also in 2008, Tod McClaskey and Veronica McClaskey as Trustees of the McClaskey Trust-Fund A, dated December 1, 2006, were the owners of Lot 8. Ms. Howard and the McClaskeys signed the 2008 amendment as individuals and not in their capacities as trustees of their respective trusts. Prior to doing so, they had not delegated their duties as trustees to themselves as individuals and had not as trustees executed powers of attorney to themselves to take action for themselves as trustees. (CP 23, FF3; CP 26-27, FF16-18)

Gerald Davis and Roberta Davis, husband and wife, purchased Lot 9 of Rivershore in 1990. (CP 27, FF19) Mr. Davis died in 2001. His will

created a "credit shelter" trust and a "QTIP" trust. All of his assets were left to those trusts. Ms. Davis was the beneficiary of those trusts for her life with the remainder going to her children on her passing. David Jahn, Morris Bush, and Michael Yount were designated co-executors of the will and co-trustees of the trust. (CP 23, FF2; Ex. 1, Tab 41) Mr. Davis' will was admitted to probate on November 12, 2003. (Ex. 1, Tab 42) The three personal representatives executed and filed a Declaration of Completion of Probate on November 12, 2003. (Ex. 1, Tab 43) No deed has ever been executed or delivered conveying Mr. Davis' interest in Lot 9 of Rivershore to any person or entity. (CP 27, FF21)

The Andersons applied with the City of Vancouver to divide Lot 2 into two parcels. One will be on the north side of the lot and will be bare land. Its area will be slightly less than one-quarter acre. It will have no interest in the tidelands in which all other owners of Rivershore have an interest. The newly created parcel will share access with the rest of Lot 2. The remainder of Lot 2 will have an area of approximately three-quarters of an acre. The Andersons' proposal was approved by the City of Vancouver in 2011. (CP 26, FF12-13) If the Andersons cannot divide Lot 2, they will lose expenses incurred to divide the parcel and will also lose value added to the whole of Lot 2 in the amount of \$750,000.00. (CP 26, FF14)

#### II. Procedural Facts.

The Andersons filed a complaint for declaratory relief on April 13, 2009. They sought a declaration that the CCRs and the 2008 Amendment did not preclude them from dividing Lot 2. (CP 1-3) The defendants answered. (CP 4-15)

On the Andersons motion for summary judgment, the trial court decided that the 2008 Amendment was not effective because 80% of the owners of lots in Rivershore had not agreed to it. It ruled in essence that there were fourteen lots — twelve together with the two created by the division of Lot 13 — and that the affirmative votes of twelve owners were required to approve any amendment. (Ex.1, Tab 46)

The defendants then appealed. The Court issued an unpublished decision on December 10, 2013. It first affirmed the trial court by ruling that the original CCRs do not prohibit the division of lots. But it reversed the trial court's ultimate decision. It ruled that the owners of the two lots that were formerly Lot 13 would only be entitled to one-half of a vote each. Therefore, the 2008 Amendment had sufficient votes — 10.5 of 13 or 80.7%. (Ex. 1, Tab 47)

On remand, the matter was tried to the court. The trial court issued it Memorandum of Opinion on December 22, 2014. (CP 16-21) It ruled that the other owners of lots in Rivershore were not estopped from

amending CCRs to preclude the Andersons from dividing Lot 2. (CP 20) It further concluded that the 2008 Amendment required the approval of all owners within Rivershore based on the opinion of the Supreme Court in *Wilkinson v. Chiwawa Communities Association*, 180 Wn.2d 241, 327 P.3d 614 (2014). (CP 17, 20) But it ruled that invalidating the 2008 Amendment because of a lack of unanimity was precluded by the decision of the Court of Appeals and the "Law of the Case" doctrine. (CP 17-19) The Andersons argued that the 2008 Amendment did not have a sufficient number of votes because Ms. Howard and the McClaskeys did not sign the 2008 Amendment as Trustees of their trusts and also because no successor of Gerald Davis signed the document. The trial court ruled that these arguments were also precluded by the "Law of the Case" doctrine and the previous decision of the Court of Appeals. (CP 20)

On January 7, 2015, the trial court entered Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. (CP 22-28) It specifically found that prohibition on further division contained in the 2008 Amendment "represented a new restriction on the use of lots within Rivershore at that time." (CP 26, FF4) Its legal conclusions essentially incorporated its Memorandum of Opinion. (CP 27) Finally, it entered judgment declaring that the 2008 Amendment was valid and operated to preclude the Andersons from subdividing Lot 2. (CP 29-31)

This appeal followed.

### <u>ARGUMENT</u>

Assignment of Error No. 1: The trial court erred in its Memorandum of Opinion.

Assignment of Error No. 2: The trial court erred in its Conclusions of Law in the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law.

Assignment of Error No. 3: The Court erred in entering the Judgment.

#### I. Standard of Review.

This matter was tried to the court. On review, the appellate court determines whether the trial court's findings of fact are supported by substantial evidence and whether the findings of fact support the conclusions of law and the evidence. *City of Tacoma v. State*, 117 Wn.2d 348, 361, 861 P.2d 7 (1991); *Jensen v. Lake Jane Estates*, 165 Wn.App. 100, 104, 267 P.3d 435 (2011). There is no particular dispute about the trial court's finding of fact in this case. However, they do not support the conclusions of law that the trial court made. Therefore, its judgment should be reversed, and the 2008 Amendment should be invalidated.

# II. The 2008 Amendment Is Not Valid Because It Adopts a New Covenant or Restriction and Was Not Unanimously Approved.

When initial covenants do not explicitly provide for the creation of new restrictions and when an amendment to those covenants establishes a new restriction, that amendment is not valid unless it is approved by all affected owners. The CCRs in this case do not allow for imposition of new restrictions. The 2008 Amendment bans further division of lots and thereby imposes a new restriction. Since the 2008 Amendment was not approved by all owners, it is not valid. This conclusion follows unmistakably from the Supreme Court's decision in *Wilkinson v. Chiwawa Communities Association, supra*.

In Wilkinson v. Chiwawa Communities Association, supra, the Supreme Court invalidated an amendment to the restrictive covenants that prohibited vacation rentals of less than six months. The amendment had been passed only by a majority of the owners. The Court announced a new rule for the determination of whether all homeowners must agree to covenant amendments. It stated that an amendment to restrictive covenants that imposes new restrictions is not valid where (1) the existing covenants allow only for their modification as opposed to permitting the enactment of new restrictions; and (2) where all affected owners do not consent. The Court said:

In Washington, the authority of a simple majority of homeowners to adopt new covenants or amend existing ones in order to place new restrictions on the use of private property is limited. When the governing covenants authorize a majority of homeowners to *create* new restrictions unrelated to existing ones, majority rule prevails "provided that such power is exercised in a reasonable manner consistent with the general plan of the development. ." However, when the general plan of development permits a majority to *change* the covenants but not create new ones, a simple majority cannot add new restrictive covenants that are inconsistent with the general plan of development or have no relation to existing covenants. . .

180 Wn.2d at 255, 256. It went on to note that the "general plan of development" — with which any amendment must be consistent, as it stated — includes that portion of the covenants dealing with amendment. The opinion said:

While we recognize, . . . that no Washington case has described the precise contours of when an amendment would be "consistent with the general plan of development," we need not provide that guidance here because the Chiwawa general plan did not authorize a majority of owners to adopt new covenants. The Chiwawa general plan of development merely authorized a majority of owners "to change these protective restrictions and covenants in whole or in part."

180 Wn.2d at 257. Finally, the Court emphasized that the test for validity of any amendment would depend on the expectation of an owner when he or she took title to the property in the following words:

. . . (t)he Chiwawa general plan of development allows homeowners to rent their homes without any durational

limitation. Homeowners who took title under these covenants were not on notice that short-term rentals might be prohibited without their consent. The Association defends its actions as consistent with the general plan because it did not ban *all* rentals, just *some* rentals.... The Association, however, misses the distinction between contracts that permit *changes* to existing covenants by majority vote and those that allow the *creation* of new covenants by majority vote. In distinguishing between these types of contracts, we respect the expectation of the parties and the contract they entered...

#### 180 Wn.2d at 257.

The CCRs in our case allow for modification of existing covenants. They do not allow a majority to create new restrictions. The CCRs read as follows on that subject:

. . . (I)f. . . it appears to the advantage of this platted subdivision that these restrictions should be modified then, and in that event, any modification desired may be made by affirmative vote of 80% of the then owners of lots within this subdivision and evidenced by a suitable instrument filed for public record. . .

(Ex. 1, Tab 1, Introductory Paragraph) This language allows for "modification" of "these restrictions." The latter phrase, "these restrictions," can refer only to restrictions contained in the CCRs because of the use of the word "these." The terms "modify," or "modification" must be given their common or ordinary meaning. Wilkinson v. Chiwawa Communities Association, supra, 180 Wn.2d at 250. That common and ordinary use can be found in a dictionary definition. Krein v. Smith, 60

Wn.App. 809, 811-812, 807 P.2d 906 (1991). The term "modify" is equivalent to the term "change." (Merriam Webster Online Dictionary) Therefore, the CCRs allow changes to existing restrictions only. That means, as the Court stated in *Wilkinson v. Chiwawa Communities Associations, supra,* no new restriction may be imposed by a less than unanimous vote.

As the trial court found, the 2008 Amendment imposes a new restriction. There is nothing in the original CCRs that addresses division of lots one way or another. The trial court found that the original CCRs did not directly prohibit division of lots within the Subdivision. (CP 23, FF1) In its previous decision, the Court of Appeals came to the same conclusion:

By their own terms, the original Covenants do not directly address the future division of lots within Rivershore. And because we will not imply a restriction in the Covenants against lawful subdivision of one's own land where the Covenants do not expressly prohibit such an activity, the original Covenants do not prevent the Andersons — or any of the other Neighbors — from subdividing their lots. . .

(Ex. 1, Tab 47 p. 6-7 of 9) The language of the 2008 Amendment makes it clear that it imposes a new restriction. Once again, its operative language is:

Lots 1-13, consisting of the original 13 lots contained in Rivershore, shall not be further subdivided or short platted.

By use of the word "further," the 2008 Amendment recognizes that the CCRs did not prohibit Mr. Brown's division of Lot 13. Since anyone could divide his or her lot under the original CCRs, the 2008 Amendment amounts to a new restriction. Since the CCRs do not allow for the creation of new restrictions but only for modification of existing ones, the 2008 Amendment required the consent of all owners of lots within the Subdivision. Since the Andersons and River Property, LLC did not approve, the 2008 Amendment is not valid.

The defendants may argue that the 2008 Amendment does express a plan for development that precludes division based on the following language in Paragraph 1:

No lot shall be used except for residential purposes. No building shall be erected, altered, placed, or permitted to remain on any lot other than one detached single family dwelling not to exceed two stories, plus basement, in height and private garage for not less than two cars. . .

(Ex. 1, Tab 1, paragraph 1) This provision does not address the issue of lot division because the term "lot" is not defined in the CCRs, as the Court of Appeals noted at Page 6 of its prior opinion. (Ex. 1, Tab 47 p. 6) The original CCRs also do not contain any language limiting the term "lot" to the first 13 that were platted. The language upon which the defendants rely means that only one single family home can be constructed on any lot — whether that lot was one of the first 13 or a lot that is created by a division.

For example, the lot owned by River Property, LLC is subject to all of the various building and aesthetic restrictions in the original CCRs.

If the amendment in *Wilkinson v. Chiwawa Communities*Association, supra, amounted to a new restriction, then the 2008

Amendment certainly does. The covenants in that case recognized that property could be rented—the amendment prohibited only rentals of less than six months. The defenders of the amendment argued that it simply changed the nature of allowed rentals. By contrast, the CCRs don't even mention division of lots. Any amendment that purports to deal with lot division must clearly be a new restriction.

Parenthetically, it should be noted that some portions of the CCRs can be amended with the approval of 80% of the owners. For example, 80% of the owners could change the requirement that a two story residence have a minimum area of 3,000 square feet as set out in Paragraph 2 of the CCRs. Paragraph 11 could also be amended to allow materials used for siding other than brick, brick veneer, cedar siding, or stone masonry.

In our case, the CCRs allow for modification of existing restrictions but not for the creation of new restrictions. When the Andersons acquired Lot 2, therefore, they were not on notice that the CCRs could be changed to add new restrictions without consent of all

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