FILED
COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION II

2015 MAY 26 AM 9:22

STATE OF WASHINGTON

BY CA WASHINGTON
DEPUTY

No. 47126-4-11

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION TWO

DALE E. and LETA L. ANDERSON; DALE E. ANDERSON and
LETA L. ANDERSON, TRUSTEES OF THE DALE E. ANDERSON
AND LETA L. ANDERSON FAMILY TRUST; and RIVER
PROPERTY, LLC,

Appellants,

v.

JAMES W. BROWN; ROBERT D. DAVIS; KAE HOWARD,
TRUSTEE OF THE KAE HOWARD TRUST; MICHAEL J. and
CRISTI D. DEFREES, husband and wife; TUAN TRAN and KATHY
HOANG, husband and wife; VINCENT and SHELLY
HUFFSTUTTER, husband and wife; THOMAS J. and GLORIA S.
KINGZETT, husband and wife; LARRY R. and SUSAN I. MACKIN,

I. INTRODUCTION

This case concerns plaintiffs' attempt to relitigate an issue that was decided by this Court in 2013; namely, that more than 80 percent of the homeowners in Rivershore¹ validly adopted an amendment to the Rivershore Declaration so as to preclude the further subdivision of any lots in Rivershore, including the lot plaintiffs seek to divide in this action. Plaintiffs now try to avoid the law of the case doctrine and to make arguments that they both raised and could and should have raised in connection with the prior appeal.

The Court should decline to reconsider or revisit its 2013 holding. With a proper application of the law of the case doctrine, the trial court's findings of fact, conclusions of law, and judgment should be affirmed.

On the merits, plaintiffs' challenges to the validity of the approval of the owners of three lots to the amendment fails. Each challenged signature was from someone who had an interest in the lot at issue. Each signature clearly was in favor of the amendment. The conclusion that the amendment was legally adopted and is valid should stand.

Plaintiffs also briefly contend that equitable estoppel should have been found to bar the owners from amending the CC&R's. Plaintiffs did not come close to proving the elements of equitable estoppel at trial, let

¹ "Rivershore" refers to Rivershore Estates Phase I, a very upscale and exclusive development on the shore of the Columbia River in Vancouver, Washington.

alone by clear and convincing evidence. The trial court properly ruled in favor of defendants on plaintiffs' estoppel claim.

II. RESPONSE TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Response to Assignments of Error 1-4: The trial court acted properly and in accordance with the evidence and law, and in accordance with the prior holding of this Court, when it entered its Memorandum of Opinion, its Conclusions of Law, and the Judgment, relying on the law of the case doctrine.

Response to Assignment of Error 5: The trial court properly found that plaintiffs did not prove the elements of equitable estoppel.

III. RESPONSE TO ISSUES PRESENTED

1. The question of whether the 2008 amendment required the approval of all homeowners within the subdivision has already been decided by this Court, and the law of the case doctrine requires that decision to be followed.

2. Whether the owners of Lots 1, 8 and 9 validly assented to the 2008 amendment is an issue that could and should have been raised in the prior appeal such that the law of the case doctrine precludes the Court from deciding those issues in this appeal.

3. Even if the law of the case doctrine was to be deemed inapplicable to this case, the owners of Lots 1, 8, and 9 unambiguously

consented to the adoption of the 2008 amendment, and their votes should stand.

4. Defendants did not act or fail to act in any way that would justify the application of equitable estoppel to invalidate their assent to the 2008 amendment.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In the prior appeal, the principal issue before the Court was whether the trial court erred in granting plaintiffs' motion for partial summary judgment and concluding that the 2008 amendment was invalid. Defendants argued on appeal that the owners of 10 lots voted in favor of the modification and that the vote satisfied the language in the declaration that reserved the power to modify the CC&R's to the votes of 80 percent of the lot owners. *See Appendix*, at A24-26.

In their responsive brief on appeal, plaintiffs contended that the defendants "failed to muster the requisite number of votes necessary to amend." A51. Although plaintiffs cited both *Shafer v. The Board of Trustees of Sandy Hook Yacht Club Estates, Inc.*, 76 Wn. App. 267 (1994) and *Meresse v. Stelma*, 100 Wn. App. 857 (2000), plaintiffs did not argue that the 2008 amendment had to be passed by a unanimous vote.

In an unpublished opinion, this Court held in favor of defendants and upheld the validity of the 2008 amendment. *See A71*.

We conclude that the amendment to the covenants was valid because, in conformance with the covenants, it was approved by owners holding more than 80 percent of current ownership interest in the lots in the subdivision....We also conclude that the Andersons' equitable claims must be remanded for further proceedings. We retain jurisdiction so that, should the Andersons be successful in these proceedings, we may consider whether the Andersons' application will need to be processed as a plat alteration or as a short plat.

The court concluded its discussion of the issue, at A83, as follows:

We hold that each of the two lots within former lot 13 has a one-half vote for purposes of amending the Covenants, and thus the 2008 amendment to the Covenants was approved by an 80.7 percent vote. The trial court's ruling that the amendment was invalid is reversed.

In their motion for reconsideration, plaintiffs belatedly contended that they were still entitled to argue whether the signatures on the amendment were legally valid. A63. On reconsideration, this Court agreed to refer to the signatures as "purported." A69. The Court did not change its fundamental conclusion, however, that the 2008 amendment was legally valid.

Following a trial to the court on remand, the trial court entered its memorandum of opinion on December 22, 2014. CP 16-21. The court found that plaintiffs' issues regarding the signatures of the owners of Lots 1, 8 and 9 had already been resolved by the 2013 opinion. CP 16-17:

Preliminarily, from the rulings of the appellant [sic] court certain issues can be accepted as verities by this court.

1. The amendment to the covenant was valid.

* * *

The court further ruled that the signatures "purporting" to be those of the respective lot owners were properly affixed to the amendment. Any issue regarding the authority of the signatures would apparently be validated by this ruling. Consequently plaintiffs would be estopped from challenging the validity of the voting process.

The trial court also found that plaintiffs' contention that the 2008 amendment had to be adopted unanimously had previously been raised but not argued by plaintiffs, such that the argument did not present a new statement of precedent that would justify not adhering to the law of the case doctrine. CP 18-19. The trial court agreed that this issue had been resolved by the 2013 opinion and that issues regarding the validity of the amendment could not be raised on remand. CP 20:

The vote on the amendment was valid despite questions concerning the signatures of the various owners' capacity as "trustees/assignees." This issue was resolved by the Court of Appeals.

The court then entered findings of fact (none of which are challenged here) and conclusions of law. CP 22-28. There, the court incorporated its memorandum of opinion as the conclusions of law.

Finally, the trial court entered a judgment, confirming that the 2008 amendment "is legally valid, and operates to preclude plaintiffs Anderson from subdividing Lot 2 in Rivershore Phase 1." CP 29-31. The

court also entered a money judgment in favor of defendants for their taxable costs. *Id.*

V. ARGUMENT²

A. **The Law of the Case Doctrine Precludes Plaintiffs from Challenging the Validity of the 2008 Amendment.**

Plaintiffs' attempt to challenge the validity of the 2008 amendment is improper because this Court ruled in 2013 that the 2008 amendment had been legally adopted and was valid. In light of that holding, the law of the case doctrine precludes plaintiffs from again challenging the validity of the 2008 amendment in this appeal.

The law of the case doctrine was summarized in *Columbia Steel Company v. State*, 34 Wn.2d 700, 705 (1949):

The law is well settled in this state that on a second appeal we will not review questions decided by us on the former appeal. Upon the retrial the parties and the trial court were all bound by the law as made by the decision on the first appeal. On appeal therefrom the parties and this court are bound by that decision unless and until authoritatively overruled.

...The case having been here upon a former appeal, as to every question that was determined upon that appeal and as to every question that might have been determined, the opinion became what is called the law of the case upon the second trial, and cannot again be considered by this court upon a second appeal. (Citations omitted.)

² Defendants agree with plaintiffs' statement of the standard of review. *See* Brief of Appellants, at 9.

See also Folsom v. County of Spokane, 111 Wn.2d 256, 263 (1988) (“Where there has been a determination of the applicable law in a prior appeal, the law of the case doctrine ordinarily precludes re-deciding the same legal issues in a subsequent appeal”); *Groverson v. Perez*, 156 Wn.2d 33, 41 (2005) (“...the law of the case doctrine stands for the proposition that once there is an appellate holding enunciating a principle of law, that holding will be followed in subsequent states of the same litigation”); *State v. Worl*, 129 Wn.2d 416, 424 (1996) (“...the parties, the trial court, and [the Supreme] Court are bound by the holdings of the court on the prior appeal until such time as they are ‘authoritatively overruled’”).

Holst v. Fireside Realty, Inc., 89 Wn. App. 245 (1997), is an example of the court finding that the law of the case doctrine was inapplicable. There, the court in the first appeal held that if a realtor was acting as a party's agent, the realtor did not adequately disclose that fact. *Id.* at 258. This finding did not implicate the law of the case on the second appeal, however, because the court did not decide in the first appeal whether the realtor was in fact acting as the party's agent. The question presented on the second appeal had not been decided in the first appeal.

This case does not present a similar situation. In 2013, this Court did not decide that the 2008 amendment was legally valid if trustee owners approved the amendment by signing in a certain capacity or if the Davis lot owner, due to probate issues, approved the amendment with authority to do so. This Court found, without reservation, that the 2008 amendment was legally valid. It remanded the case for the sole purpose of allowing plaintiffs to try their claim of equitable estoppel to the court.

See A83-85:

Because the evidence regarding estoppel is underdeveloped in this case, we affirm the trial court's denial of summary judgment for the Andersons on this issue and remand for further proceedings. The Andersons' success on this issue would permit them to move forward with an application to subdivide lot 2 despite the valid Covenant amendment prohibiting further divisions of lots within Rivershore....

* * *

...the outcome of this case still depends on whether the Andersons prevail on their equitable claims on remand...

Despite the prior decision of the Court of Appeals, plaintiffs have belatedly asserted that they intend to challenge defendants' signatures on the amendment, including that Ms. Howard and the McClaskeys did not write "trustee" after their signatures. Plaintiffs also contest the signature for Lot 9, which was affixed by one of the owners of that lot. Plaintiffs have waived any right they may have had to raise these contentions.

Plaintiffs' complaint for declaratory relief contains no allegations regarding the signatures or the signators' authority to sign the document adopting the 2008 amendment. CP 1-3. Defendants' amended answer then affirmatively alleged that "[t]he amendment to the CC&R's is effective to prohibit plaintiffs' efforts to subdivide or short plat lot 2." CP 5. Plaintiffs filed a reply to defendants' affirmative defenses, but again failed to allege that there was any issue with the signatures adopting the amendment. SUPP. CP 102-103.

Plaintiffs later filed a motion for partial summary judgment. SUPP. CP 35-45. In their supporting memorandum, plaintiffs offhandedly included a sentence stating that the signatures had to be made in the owners' proper capacity. SUPP. CP 68. Nowhere else in plaintiffs' moving or reply pleadings (SUPP. CP 35-45, 104-112) is this sentence expanded upon. The concept is not even mentioned again, let alone argued.

By failing to raise the signature issue in their reply to defendants' affirmative defenses, plaintiffs waived their right to assert the issue. CR 8. *See also Harting v. Barton*, 101 Wn. App. 954 (2000). Plaintiffs also waived any right to rely on this issue by failing to present further argument to the trial court or to the Court of Appeals. *See, e.g., Skagit County Public Hospital District No. 1 v. Dept. of Revenue*, 158 Wn. App.

426, 440 (2010) ("An appellant waives an assignment of error if it fails to present argument or citation to authority in support of that assignment").

Plaintiffs similarly did not raise the issue on appeal until after the appellate court had ruled, when plaintiffs filed their motion for reconsideration and clarification. A63-67. Again, plaintiffs' attempt to create an issue regarding the signatures came too late, and the issue was waived. Plaintiffs cannot generally use a motion for reconsideration to raise an issue for the first time. *See Howe v. Douglas County*, 146 Wn.2d 183, 185 n.1 (2002).

It is noteworthy that plaintiffs had earlier filed a "motion to strike defenses not pleaded" in February 2010. SUPP. CP 113-115. Plaintiffs therefore recognized that unplead affirmative defenses cannot be asserted. Plaintiffs must be held to the same standard. The invalidity of one or more signatures on the amendment is an affirmative defense to defendants' claim that the 2008 amendment was valid. Having failed to assert the defense properly, plaintiffs have waived the defense.

In their brief in the first appeal, plaintiffs addressed defendants' contention that the 2008 amendment was valid at 12-14. A19-21. They made no contention that any signatures were invalid. This was certainly a contention which should have been made, given that defendants were asking the Court of Appeals to find that the 2008 amendment was legal,

valid, and enforceable. The validity of the signatures, if in issue, was necessarily an element to be raised in resolving that issue. Plaintiffs were aware of this potential issue, given that they had mentioned it in their motion for partial summary judgment.

The purpose of the law of the case doctrine is "to promote finality and efficiency in the judicial process." *Roberson v. Perez*, 156 Wn.2d 33, 41 (2005). *See also* RAP 2.5(c)(2). This purpose would be ill-served by allowing plaintiffs to now challenge this court's 2013 opinion with arguments that were known and that should have been made at the time. As Division III recently noted, "We may also refuse under the doctrine to address issues that could have been raised in a prior appeal." *Sambasivan v. Kadlec Medical Center*, 184 Wn. App. 567, 576 (2014). *See also Folsom v. County of Spokane*, 111 Wn.2d 256, 263-64 (1988). Under the circumstances of this case, the Court in its discretion should apply the law of the case doctrine and preclude plaintiffs' belated challenge to the signatures on the documents approving the 2008 amendment.

B. There Was No Intervening Change in Controlling Precedent to Justify not Applying the Law of the Case Doctrine.

Plaintiffs erroneously contend that the decision in *Wilkinson v. Chiwawa Communities Ass'n*, 180 Wn.2d 241 (2014) was a change in controlling precedent, justifying a departure from the law of the case

doctrine. Where there has been an intervening change in controlling precedent between the times of the first and second appeals, the court may choose to disregard the law of the case doctrine. *Roberson*, 156 Wn.2d at 42-43. Plaintiffs' argument fails because *Wilkinson* does not represent a change in controlling precedent. The trial court properly reached that conclusion.

In the first appeal, plaintiffs relied on *Shafer v. The Board of Trustees of Sandy Hook Yacht Club Estates*, 76 Wn. App. 267 (1994) and *Meresse v. Stelma*, 100 Wn. App. 857 (2000) in support of their challenge to the validity of the 2008 amendment. *Shafer* concerned the adoption of new restrictive covenants without the agreement of all affected property owners. While the court ultimately found that the development documents expressly reserved the power for less than 100 percent of the property owners to adopt new restrictions, the proposition being relied upon was the same as that relied on by the *Wilkinson* court: If the governing documents do not reserve the power in less than 100 percent of owners to adopt new restrictions, then the adoption of new restrictions must be unanimous.

Meresse was to similar effect. There, through interpretation of the restrictive covenants, the court held that a majority lot owner could not subject the dissenting minority owner to a major change (relocation

of an access road). In other words, the major change could only be put into effect if there was unanimous approval.

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